ST. GEORGE HISTORICAL SOCIETY

SPONSORED BY ROCKDALE MUNICIPAL COUNCIL

24 Duff Street,
ARNCLIFFE, 2205.

11th February, 1972.

Dear Friend & Member,

The regular meeting will be held as follows: -

Date: Friday Evening, February 18th, 1972, at 8 p. m.
Place: Council Chamber, Town Hall, Princes Highway, Rockdale.
Business: General.

‘Syllabus Item: An Illustrated Address by one of our Members,
Mrs. Sheila Tearle; entitled - "Women in Australia's
History, The First 100 Years''.

Supper Roster: Mrs. Coghlan, Capt. - Mrs. Day, Misses Dunsmore,
Cheetham, Callister, .Gillard.

Ladies please bring a plate.

Mr. J. Stead, Mrs. E. Eardley,
PRESIDENT. HON. SECRETARY.
Phone 59.5341. Phone 59. 8078.

Mr. A. Ellis,
RESEARCH OFFICER.
Phone 587. 1159,

Society Books & Badges are available from the Secretary.
Also some back numbers of Bulletins.
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PARADE in St. Johns Cathedral, Parramatta,

If members are interested in this Historic Parade a
Coach will be chartered for the occasion. After the
Service the Coach will take us to a suitable and pleasaat
spot where each may have a Picnic Lunch, to be followed
by a tour of historic parts roundabout, or further afield,
according to time, weather etc. Further details at the
next meeting, and will those members, and friends if so
desired, please give their names to the Secretary, at
the meeting, or ring: 59.8078. 6+ 893341/

If this outing is a success, further outings will be
arranged.

A STREET STALL will be held in the Bexley Shopping

Centre on April 15th, Saturday morning, proceeds of
which will help with the restoration of Lydham Hall.

Can we rely on the generosity of our members to help
stock this stall? Cakes, scones, pikelets, jams, or
e dibles of any kind, also inexpensive bits and pieces
suitable for a stall will be greatly appreciated.

Later in the year, we hope to have another Film Evening, featuring Part 2
of the Centenary Celebrations, together with one or two films from the
National Trust. This evening will be per courtesy of Rockdale Council, and
will be conducted on lines similar to the previous film evening.

It is with regret that we record the passing of Mr. Les.Chase,
of 942 King Georges Road, Blakehurst.

Mr. Chase has been a member of the Society for some years,
and will be missed by those who were associated with him over
the years.




We would like to say '""Thankyou' for the following recent acquisitions to
Lydham Hall: -

Mrs. Williams,
East Street, Blue Washstand Jug and Basin.
Arncliffe.

Mrs. Hindmarsh, Large Photographic Portrait of Joseph Davis.
Braidwood. NSW. Series of Old Family Photos.

Shawl and Lace Collar, (worn by Mrs. Davis)
Painting done by Mrs. Davis.

Original Spice Box, used by the Davis Family while
in residence at Lydham Hall.

Oil Hanging Lamp, 90 years old.

It is of interest to note that Mrs. Hindmarsh is a Grand-daughter of
Joseph Davis (late of Lydham Hall).

Miss M. Mills, Piano, 90 years old.

Bay Street,
Rockdale.

Mr. Gilbert J. Stead. Oil Painting of Flowers, by Ada Gibbons (The Second
Mrs. Stead) of "Dappeto’, later known as '"The Nest"
‘when occupied by The Salvation Army.

Mrs. M. Bushell, Ladies Gold Watch Chain with Clip.
122 Farr Street,

Rockdale.

Mrs. N. Stone, Pair Silver Slippers (very tiny). (1860 Circa)
Orange Street,

Hurstville.

Mrs. Hayman, Pair Curling Tongs. 90-100 years old.

2 Hillpine Avenue, Used by Mrs. Hayman's Grandmother.
Xogarah.
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STREET LIGHTING IN BEXLEY N.S.W. (1900-1948)

uuuuuu A.F. and ¥F.G. Day.

When Bexley Ward of Hurstville Municipality became the Borough of Bexley
it had 75 gas street lamps. The Australian Gaslight Company charged £4
per annum each for their maintenance. However, gas was not reticulated
throughout the entire Borough and, where it was not available, any lighting
required had to be by kerosene lamps.

Gas lamps were lit and extinguished by a Gas Company lamplighter who rode
a bicycle and carried a stick with a hook on its end. With this he was ableto
pull on one or other of the rings attached to the gas cock, the pilot light being
continuously -burning. For a few days around full moon the lamps would not
be 1lit. Later, the operation was performed by a clockwork mechanism which
required periodical winding.

The kerosene lamps were lit by a Council employee who sometimes had other
duties in addition. As late as 1924 the Impounding Officer is recorded as
having the duty of lighting and extinguishing oil lamps and maintaining the

oil supply and the wicks - all for 25/- per week. This arrangement was
evidently not satisfactory for Council received many complaints and the
lamplighter was threatened with dismissal if there were no improvement
within a week. A few months later a new appointment was made - of a
"Lighter of Oil Lamps'' at a wage of 30/- per week. It was stipulated that he
must attend to the lamps personally.

Fortunately, Bexley started its gas street lighting with incandescent mantles,
In 1902 Carlton Railway Station, which was on the boundary of the Borough,
was still lit by the flames of fish-tail (or batswing) burners. Council asked
the Railway Commissioners if this could be changed to incandescent lighting.

In order that more gas lamps might be installed, a special lighting rate of

fivepence in the £1 was levied in 1904. Also, a charge was made on the Gas
Company for gas mains laid in the streets. No record is available of early
years, but in 1921 this charge for gas mains had reached £241 for the year.

In the early days, shortage of Council funds was a frequent occurrence. Thus,
in 1905, Rockdale Council told Bexley Council that it could not afford to pay
for installation of a gas lamp in Harrow Road at Beaconsfield Street. Bexley
had asked Rockdale for this lamp because it claimed to be already doing more
than its share of Harrow Road lighting. Maintenance of this lighting was
supposed to be shared equally by the two authorities, as the boundary ran
down the centre of the road. January 1910 found Bexley so short of funds
that it had to defer payment of the gas account. After the general strike of
1917, the Gas Company was asked by Bexley Council for a rebate of payment
to allow for lamps not lit during the strike. It is not recorded whether any
allowance was made.

Street name slips were an attractive feature of gas street lighting. This idea
originated in 1904, when the Gas Company supplied and erected them at a
cost of ninepence per slip. Many years later, when lighting was changed to
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electric, the loss of these name slips was recorded as a minor disadvantage,

Considering the easy accessibility of the gas street lamp. it is surprising
that interference by vandals was not common. No cases of practical jokers
interchanging name slips were recorded, but the police had to be informed of
damage to lamps on several occasions.

The location of gas lamps was not always satisfactory and requests were
often made for improvement. The lamp at the eastern corner of Harrow
Road and Gladstone Street, while making an attractive night scene against

the adjoining camphor laurel. cast a shadow up the Gladstone Street eastern
footpath. In those days this sort of thing was accepted as safe and no change
was ever made., The Methodist Church in the next block on the same side of
Gladstone Street in 1905, asked for a lamp outside the church. It was thought
to improve the lighting of street intersections on the wide Dunmore and Queen
Victoria Streets by moving the lamps to the centre of the road. On cloudy,
but otherwise full moon, nights when the lights would not be 1it, the horse-
drawn vehicles of those days, with little lighting of their own, occasionally
collided with the lamp standards in their new positions. Though it was
claimed that the Council would not be liable for damages in such cases, the
lamps were later moved back to the footpath for greater safety.

The period 1905 to the start of the first World War was one of occasional
complaint, if not of the quality of lighting (frequently caused by low gas
pressure), then of lamp locaticns. As early as 1906 a municipal gas works
was suggested for the St. George district, but nothing came of the idea.

In March 1913, a gas strike occurred and extra kerosene lamps had to be
obtained for lighting some very dark, but important, locations in the Bexley
area,

The first mention of electricity for street lighting appears to have been early
in 1908, when Botany Council suggested that the Tramway Department make
a supply available, Nothing resulted from this idea and it was not until

seven years later (February 1915) that the next move was made. The Sydney
Municipal Council (now known as the Council of the City of Sydney), which
then had an Electricity Department with reticulation into neighbouring
suburbs, was asked what the cost of lighting Bexley streets would be. The
reply was evidently favourable, for a motion was passed by Bexley Council
that the City Council be asked to extend its cables to Illawarra suburbs. But
this was never done.

The first public use of electric lighting in Bexley Municipality was in July
1918 when, with Council permission, the Carlton and West Kogarah Voluntary
Workers Association erected poles in Short Street, Carlton, to carry electric
lighting wires from Mrs. Rates' factory to the entrance of Carlton Station.
The factory had an electricity generator and advantage was taken of this to
arrange the lighting at the station for wartime patriotic purposes.

It was not until the formation of the St. George County Council that electric
lighting of Bexley streets began. This was in 1922 and at the same time
the special lighting rate of 1904 was abandoned. The Gas Company agreed
to accept 14 days notice for discontinuance of a gas lamp.
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As electricity became available only gradually to the more settled parts of
Bexley, gas lamps were still being asked for in the more remote parts. Where
there was no gas main a kerosene lamp had to be used. This occured as late
as 1924. Delays to the completion of the scheme of electrification were
frequently caused by the non-arrival of transformers. Thus, in June 1923 it
was stated that the supply would not be available north of Stoney Creek Road
for at least six months.

As was the case with gaslamps many years before, special requests were
received for lamps in certain places. The Police Department, no doubt with
some justification, asked for an electric light outside the Bexley Police Station,
then existing at No.3, Oriental Street.

At first, electric lamp sizes were 60 watt for side streets and 100 watt (with

a few 200 watt) in busier locations. At the end of 1923 there were 79 gas lamps,
182 - 60 watt, 3 - 100 watt and 13 - 200 watt electric lamps in the streets of

the Municipality; the number of oil lamps still existing at that date is not known,
but there were some. The cost of erecting a 60 watt or 100 watt lamp on an
existing pole was stated to be £11.2.0 in 1936.

In spite oi the change over to electric street lighting, complaints were some-
times received of insufficient light. Poor lighting was said to have led to a
horse being killed by a car in Croydon Road in 1936.

During the 1930's a change to mercury-vapour lamps for main roads was
started. But, by 1940, with the Second World War increasing in intensity,
materials became difficult to get and the work had to be stopped.

Up to August 1938 the arterial lighting of Forest Road was switched off at
midnight, it was then changed to all night lighting.

"White Way'' lighting should be considered as a contribution to street lighting.
Confined as it usually was to shopping areas, it originated in the days of late
shopping nights. In Bexley, the Chamber of Commerce erected "'white way"'
lighting at its own expense about 1924. This gave an attractive addition to the
footpath illumination in the main shopping centre and was very popular,
Bexley Council is recorded as having congratulated the Chamber of Commerce
on its work. However, soon afterwards (1925) the latter asked the Council
to take over maintenance, if possible, on lst January, 1926. Many months
were to elapse before this eventuated. '

Unfortunately, the construction used for the Bexley '"White Way'' was vulnerable
to damage by high vehicles, and it seems, did not stand up to weather conditions
as well as might be expected. So after nine years service (October 1933), the
St. George County Council reported that the wiring was in a dangerous condit-
ion and urgently needed reconstruction. Certain sections had had to be dis-
connected, so the St. George County Council was asked to advise on a course

of action. The Chamber of Commerce offered to pay one-third of the cost of
reconstruction, the Bexley Council to bear the remainder. A tender was let
and the new '"White Way'' was switched on in May 1934. Five years later, as
an economy measure at the start of World War 11 the individual shopkeepers
were given permission to clean the lamps in front of their premises.
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The "White Way'' fell into disuse during the war because of Government
restrictions, but early in 1946 it was possible to go into the question of its
second reconstruction. The Chamber of Commerce made a contribution of
£25, but on this occasion recommended only the section between Dunmore
Street and Bayview Street for attention, as the shopkeepers towards Westminster
Street were reported to be unco-operative. @ When the work was completed the
shopkeepers on the south-east side of Forest Road, from the Commonwealth
Bank to near the Post Office complained that no "White Way' had been erected
outside their premises. It was explained that their premises were erected
after the construction of the "White Way'" and that, in any case their exterior
lighting was similar to that of the ""White Way''. The chief difference was

that they paid for the electricity through their own meters. Had it been
necessary to continue the '""White Way'' in uniform fashion right to Harrow
Road the existing circuit would have been overloaded and another would have
been needed to cope with the load. This extra expense was not thought to be
warranted.

Maintenance of the equipment, including time switch, but excluding the cost
of electricity and lamp and shade replacements was said to have cost approx-
imately 10/- per week.

In July 1947, a deputation from Carlton (west side) asked Council to provide,
among other things, a '"White Way' for their shopping centre.

The life of Bexley as a separate Municipality was now nearing its end and the
coming of more intense street lighting in the form of fluorescent and, later,
mercury fluorescent lamps caused the abandonment of ""White Ways'' of
filament lamps.

References:

Minutes of the Borough Council of Bexley, 1900-1906.
Minutes of the Council of the Municipality of Bexley 1907-1948.
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OAKURA STREET, ROCKDALE,
A LETTER FROM NEW ZEALAND.

Oakura Street in Rockdale is on the Bexley side of the railway line. The land
around it is part of 56 acres delineated in the Public Map of St. George, in the
Department of Lands, originally granted to Thomas Holt the Younger, by Crown
Grant dated 21st day of November, 1853.

The name '"Oakura'’, - sometimes written incorrectly on correspondence as
Dakura, Vakura, Okura, even O'Kiera - has the same name as a town in New
Zealand, 8 miles from New Plymouth. During World War 11 there was concern

that Oakura was Japanese !

To find more about the origin of Oakura, I wrote and received a reply from
Mr. J. Emslie, Chairman of the Oakura County Town Committee. Here is an

extract: -

'TI was very interested to receive your letter from Oakura Street and, in
my turn, am interested to know how it was named. Oakura (pronounced
Oh-are-koo-ra, with accent on "'are'), is a Maori word, but the meaning is
obscure. The most widespread version is ''a red cloak', which alluded to
the red cloak worn by a chief of one of the original canoes bringing the
Maoris to New Zealand in the early 1300s. This canoe landed on Oakura

Beach.

Another version is that it means '"calm waters'' because of the sheltered
locality. Today, even the Maoris themselves don't know for sure.'

So it seems feasible that Oakura Street was named after the town in New
Zealand but, who named it and why remains a mystery.

Some names associated with Oakura Street after Thorma s Holt are: -

James Thomas Tillock, Merchant, 1895.
Thomas Donnan, Greengrocer, 1911.
George Wilson, Builder, 1915.

The street itself was made in 1905.

(Mrs) Ann McDonald,
19 Oakura Street,
Rockdale.



